Oracle® Business Intelligence Discoverer

Publishing Workbooks in Oracle Application Server Portal 10*g* Release 2 (10.1.2.0.0) Part No. B14465-01

November 2004



Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Publishing Workbooks in Oracle Application Server Portal, 10g Release 2 (10.1.2.0.0)

Part No. B14465-01

Copyright © 1996, 2004 Oracle. All rights reserved.

Primary Author: N Fry

The Programs (which include both the software and documentation) contain proprietary information; they are provided under a license agreement containing restrictions on use and disclosure and are also protected by copyright, patent, and other intellectual and industrial property laws. Reverse engineering, disassembly, or decompilation of the Programs, except to the extent required to obtain interoperability with other independently created software or as specified by law, is prohibited.

The information contained in this document is subject to change without notice. If you find any problems in the documentation, please report them to us in writing. This document is not warranted to be error-free. Except as may be expressly permitted in your license agreement for these Programs, no part of these Programs may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, for any purpose.

If the Programs are delivered to the United States Government or anyone licensing or using the Programs on behalf of the United States Government, the following notice is applicable:

U.S. GOVERNMENT RIGHTS Programs, software, databases, and related documentation and technical data delivered to U.S. Government customers are "commercial computer software" or "commercial technical data" pursuant to the applicable Federal Acquisition Regulation and agency-specific supplemental regulations. As such, use, duplication, disclosure, modification, and adaptation of the Programs, including documentation and technical data, shall be subject to the licensing restrictions set forth in the applicable Oracle license agreement, and, to the extent applicable, the additional rights set forth in FAR 52.227-19, Commercial Computer Software--Restricted Rights (June 1987). Oracle Corporation, 500 Oracle Parkway, Redwood City, CA 94065

The Programs are not intended for use in any nuclear, aviation, mass transit, medical, or other inherently dangerous applications. It shall be the licensee's responsibility to take all appropriate fail-safe, backup, redundancy and other measures to ensure the safe use of such applications if the Programs are used for such purposes, and we disclaim liability for any damages caused by such use of the Programs.

Oracle is a registered trademark of Oracle Corporation and/or its affiliates. Other names may be trademarks of their respective owners.

The Programs may provide links to Web sites and access to content, products, and services from third parties. Oracle is not responsible for the availability of, or any content provided on, third-party Web sites. You bear all risks associated with the use of such content. If you choose to purchase any products or services from a third party, the relationship is directly between you and the third party. Oracle is not responsible for: (a) the quality of third-party products or services; or (b) fulfilling any of the terms of the agreement with the third party, including delivery of products or services and warranty obligations related to purchased products or services. Oracle is not responsible for any loss or damage of any sort that you may incur from dealing with any third party.

Perspective® for Java licensed from Three D Graphics, Inc. Copyright © 1997, 2002, Three D Graphics, Inc.

Contents

our Commentsv
······································

Preface	vii
Documentation Accessibility	vii
Intended Audience	vii
Structure	viii
Related Documents	viii
Conventions	viii
JGoodies License Agreement	ix

1 Introducing OracleBI Discoverer and OracleAS Portal

What is Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer?	1-1
What is a Discoverer workbook?	1-1
What is Oracle Application Server Portal?	1-2
What are the different types of Discoverer portlet?	1-2
About the Discoverer Worksheet portlet	1-3
About the Discoverer Gauges portlet	1-3
About the Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet	1-4
About integrating Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal pages	1-4
What are Discoverer connections and why do I need to know about them?	1-6

2 Setting up Discoverer Portlet Provider in OracleAS Portal

What are the prerequisite tasks and which roles are involved for publishing Discoverer port	lets
in OracleAS Portal?	2-1
How to publish Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal	2-2
An overview of registering Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal	2-3
How to register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal	2-3
How to edit Discoverer Portlet Provider after it has been registered with OracleAS Portal	2-6
Notes about changing the default performance settings for Discoverer	2-8
Notes about using Discoverer Portlet Provider 10.1.2 with OracleAS Portal 9.0.4	2-8

3 Authoring OracleAS Portal Pages with Discoverer Portlets

Pre-requisites for publishing Discoverer worksheets in OracleAS Portal	3-1
How to connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page	3-2
How to add a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet to an OracleAS Portal page	3-4
How to add a Discoverer Worksheet portlet to an OracleAS Portal page	3-5
How to add a Discoverer Gauges portlet to an OracleAS Portal page	3-6
How to edit a Discoverer portlet	3-7
How to customize a Discoverer portlet using Discoverer Portlet Provider	3-8
How to customize the Discoverer worksheet shown in a portlet in Viewer, using the Analyze	
link	3-9
Notes about using worksheet parameters in Discoverer portlets	-10

How to map worksheet parameters to Page Parameters in OracleAS Portal	3-11
How to map worksheet parameters to Generic Page Parameters	3-11
How to create a Page Parameter	3-13
How to map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter	3-14
How to add Simple Parameter Form portlets to an OracleAS Portal page	3-16
Notes about publishing Discoverer content in portlets	3-18
About choosing database connections for Discoverer portlets	3-19
About choosing refresh options for Discoverer portlets	3-21
About Discoverer connections and OracleAS Single Sign-On	3-22

4 Using Discoverer Portlets in OracleAS Portal

Index

Send Us Your Comments

Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Publishing Workbooks in Oracle Application Server Portal, 10g Release 2 (10.1.2.0.0)

Part No. B14465-01

Oracle welcomes your comments and suggestions on the quality and usefulness of this publication. Your input is an important part of the information used for revision.

- Did you find any errors?
- Is the information clearly presented?
- Do you need more information? If so, where?
- Are the examples correct? Do you need more examples?
- What features did you like most about this manual?

If you find any errors or have any other suggestions for improvement, please indicate the title and part number of the documentation and the chapter, section, and page number (if available). You can send comments to us in the following ways:

- Electronic mail: discdoc_us@oracle.com
- FAX: 650 506 7421 Attn: OracleBI Discoverer
- Postal service:

Oracle Corporation Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Documentation 200 Oracle Parkway, 2OP10 Redwood Shores, CA 94065 USA

If you would like a reply, please give your name, address, telephone number, and electronic mail address (optional).

If you have problems with the software, please contact your local Oracle Support Services.

Preface

Welcome to the Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Publishing Workbooks in Oracle Application Server Portal.

Documentation Accessibility

Our goal is to make Oracle products, services, and supporting documentation accessible, with good usability, to the disabled community. To that end, our documentation includes features that make information available to users of assistive technology. This documentation is available in HTML format, and contains markup to facilitate access by the disabled community. Standards will continue to evolve over time, and Oracle is actively engaged with other market-leading technology vendors to address technical obstacles so that our documentation can be accessible to all of our customers. For additional information, visit the Oracle Accessibility Program Web site at

http://www.oracle.com/accessibility/

Accessibility of Code Examples in Documentation JAWS, a Windows screen reader, may not always correctly read the code examples in this document. The conventions for writing code require that closing braces should appear on an otherwise empty line; however, JAWS may not always read a line of text that consists solely of a bracket or brace.

Accessibility of Links to External Web Sites in Documentation This documentation may contain links to Web sites of other companies or organizations that Oracle does not own or control. Oracle neither evaluates nor makes any representations regarding the accessibility of these Web sites.

Keyboard Navigation

Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer supports standard keyboard navigation. Standard keyboard navigation includes the use of the tab key, mnemonics (using the Alt key and the underlined character), and accelerators (such as Alt+F4 to exit a window).

Intended Audience

Use this guide if you want to publish Discoverer content to OracleAS Portal pages, and you want to know how to:

- register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal
- publish Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal pages

edit Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal pages

Structure

This manual contains the following parts:

- Chapter 1, "Introducing OracleBI Discoverer and OracleAS Portal"
- Chapter 2, "Setting up Discoverer Portlet Provider in OracleAS Portal"
- Chapter 3, "Authoring OracleAS Portal Pages with Discoverer Portlets"
- Chapter 4, "Using Discoverer Portlets in OracleAS Portal"

Related Documents

For more information, see the following manuals:

- Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Plus User's Guide
- Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide
- Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Administration Guide
- Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Portlet Provider Help system
- Oracle Application Server Portal Help system
- Oracle Application Server Portal Configuration Guide

You can access the above documents and other information about Discoverer (e.g. whitepapers, best practices, tutorials) on the Oracle Technology Network at www.oracle.com/technology.

Conventions

The following conventions are used in this manual:

Convention	Meaning
File New	Menu options are shown with a vertical bar separating the menu and the name of the option. For example, File New shows the selection of the New option from the File menu.
bold type	Bold type is used to distinguish field names in Discoverer dialogs.
italic type	Italic type is used for the names of other Oracle publications.
<>	Angle brackets enclose user-supplied names.
[]	Brackets enclose optional clauses from which you can choose one or none.
monotype	Characters you type are shown in monotype.

Discoverer often gives you several ways to perform an operation. For example, to create a new condition you could:

- choose Tools | Conditions
- click the Conditions toolbar button

Since you might not be using a mouse, the Discoverer documentation always tells you the menu and menu option to choose.

JGoodies License Agreement

Oracle Business Intelligence includes the JGoodies software, whose License Agreement follows:

Copyright© 2003 JGoodies Karsten Lentzsch. All rights reserved.

Redistribution and use in source and binary forms, with or without modification, are permitted provided that the following conditions are met:

- Redistributions of source code must retain the above copyright notice, this list of conditions and the following disclaimer.
- Redistributions in binary form must reproduce the above copyright notice, this list
 of conditions and the following disclaimer in the documentation and/or other
 materials provided with the distribution.
- Neither the name of JGoodies nor the names of its contributors may be used to endorse or promote products derived from this software without specific prior written permission.

THIS SOFTWARE IS PROVIDED BY THE COPYRIGHT HOLDERS AND CONTRIBUTORS "AS IS" AND ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE ARE DISCLAIMED. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE COPYRIGHT OWNER OR CONTRIBUTORS BE LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, PROCUREMENT OF SUBSTITUTE GOODS OR SERVICES; LOSS OF USE, DATA, OR PROFITS; OR BUSINESS INTERRUPTION) HOWEVER CAUSED AND ON ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, STRICT LIABILITY, OR TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE OR OTHERWISE) ARISING IN ANY WAY OUT OF THE USE OF THIS SOFTWARE, EVEN IF ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGE.

1

Introducing OracleBI Discoverer and OracleAS Portal

This chapter introduces you to OracleBI Discoverer and OracleAS Portal and contains the following topics:

- "What is Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer?"
- "What is a Discoverer workbook?"
- "What is Oracle Application Server Portal?"
- "What are the different types of Discoverer portlet?"
- "About integrating Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal pages"
- "What are Discoverer connections and why do I need to know about them?"

What is Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer?

Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer is an intuitive ad-hoc query, reporting, analysis, and Web publishing toolset that gives business users immediate access to information in databases.

Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer enables business users at all levels of the organization to make faster and more informed business decisions. Using any standard Web browser, you have secure and immediate access to data from both relational and multidimensional data sources. Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer provides a business view to hide the complexity of the underlying data structures, enabling you to focus on solving business problems.

Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer comprises a number of integrated components that work together with the Oracle database to give you a complete and integrated Business Intelligence solution.

What is a Discoverer workbook?

A Discverer workbook is simply a named collection of worksheets. Each worksheet contains the data and graphs that you need to extract business information from the database. Each worksheet contains the result of a query.

Worksheets can show information:

- as data points in cells (formatted as tables or as crosstabs)
- as graphs (OracleBI Discoverer supports many different graph types)

You use Discoverer Portlet Provider to enable Discoverer worksheets to be accessed by OracleAS Portal users.

What is Oracle Application Server Portal?

Oracle Application Server Portal is a component of Oracle Application Server that is used for the development, deployment, administration, and configuration of enterprise-class portals. OracleAS Portal incorporates a portal-building framework with self-service publishing features that enable you to create, publish, and manage information within your portal. Your portal can publish information from your database and other sources, provide and gather information from internal and external customers, and manage the content they will consume.

A portal is made up of groups of pages hosting many different types of content that come from many different sources, all presented from a single location, the portal. The basic structural components of a portal built with OracleAS Portal include page groups, pages, tabs, regions, portlets, and items.

Portlets are reusable information components that summarize or provide access to different types of information sources. You can customize the appearance of portlets on a per user or per group basis. Examples of portlets include a dynamically updated report of quarterly earnings, a Discoverer worksheet, a search field and button, or a simple user poll.

What are the different types of Discoverer portlet?

The following Discoverer portlets can be published in OracleAS Portal:

- Worksheet portlet (for more information, see "About the Discoverer Worksheet portlet")
- Gauges portlet (for more information, see "About the Discoverer Gauges portlet")
- List of Worksheets portlet (for more information, see "About the Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet")

Figure 1–1 Discoverer portlets in relation to the Discoverer BI toolset



About the Discoverer Worksheet portlet

A Discoverer Worksheet portlet can contain a Discoverer worksheet and a graph.

The portlet publisher can include a link in the portlet (called Analyze) to enable users to open the worksheet in Discoverer Viewer for more detailed analysis (e.g. drill, pivot).

In the figure below, the worksheet portlet called Video Tutorial Workbook - Crosstab Layout contains a Discoverer worksheet for analyzing profit figures for regions over time.

Figure 1–2 A Discoverer Worksheet portlet

Video Tuto	ial Workt	ook - Cro	sstab Lay	out	Customize About 🛧 🗙			
Analysis of Video Rentals and Video Sales								
Department Video Sale								
	P	rofit SU	M					
	1998	1999	2000					
Central	\$67,084	\$97,921	\$69,493					
East	\$108,558	\$145,462	\$109,637					
West	\$57,096	\$87,172	\$52,092					
Analyze								

For more information, see "How to add a Discoverer Worksheet portlet to an OracleAS Portal page".

About the Discoverer Gauges portlet

A Discoverer Gauges portlet contains Discoverer worksheet data displayed as one or more semi-circular gauges. The gauges have a similar appearance to a speedometer. A gauge is a way of visualizing data within a range of values.

Discoverer Gauges portlets can only be created for crosstab worksheets.

It is possible to define low, acceptable, and high thresholds. The value ranges reflect key performance indicators (KPIs) for a business. Gauges are commonly used in dashboard applications.

The portlet publisher can include a link in the portlet (called Analyze) to enable users to open the worksheet in Discoverer Viewer for more detailed analysis (e.g. drill, pivot).

The figure below shows a Discoverer Gauges portlet containing two gauges that display monthly profit sum values for East and Central regions.



Figure 1–3 Discoverer Gauges portlet displayed in an OracleAS Portal page

For more information, see "How to add a Discoverer Gauges portlet to an OracleAS Portal page".

About the Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet

A Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet contains links to Discoverer worksheets. When you click a link in a List of Worksheets portlet, you open the selected worksheet in Discoverer Viewer.

In the figure below, the Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet contains links to worksheets in the Video Tutorial Workbook (e.g. Tabular Layout, Crosstab Layout).

Ф						
Focus	Name	Туре	Owner	Modification Date		Creation Date
STAR	V MY DRAKE STD	Sec. 20	5.23	TO ALCONY		
Φ	Analytic Function Examples	Workbook	VIDE05	07-Jan-2004	10:21	07-Jan-2004 10:2
Ф	Video Tutorial Workbook	Workbook	VIDE05	07-Jan-2004	10:21	07-Jan-2004 10:2
	Tabular Layout	Table	VIDE05	07-Jan-2004	10:21	07-Jan-2004 10:2
	Crosstab Layout	Crosstab	VIDE05	07-Jan-2004	10:21	07-Jan-2004 10:2

Figure 1–4 A Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet

For more information, see "How to add a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet to an OracleAS Portal page".

About integrating Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal pages

You can integrate Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal pages using Discoverer Portlet Provider. Discoverer Portlet Provider is a Discoverer component that provides the Discoverer portlets for publishing Discoverer content in OracleAS Portal pages.

If you have created a Discoverer worksheet in Discoverer Plus Relational, Discoverer Plus OLAP, or Discoverer Desktop, OracleAS Portal makes it easy to publish the worksheet to a portal community.

For more information about portlet types available for Discoverer content, see "What are the different types of Discoverer portlet?".

The figure below shows a page in OracleAS Portal containing Discoverer portlets.

Figure 1–5 An example OracleAS Portal page including a Simple Parameter Form portlet, Discoverer Worksheet portlets and a Gauges portlet



Key to figure:

a. A Simple Parameter Form portlet.

b. A Discoverer Worksheet portlet.

c. An Analyze link that displays the worksheet in Discoverer Viewer. Displaying this link is optional.

d. A Discoverer Gauges portlet.

There are a number of benefits that are available when you use Discoverer together with OracleAS Portal:

 display multiple crosstabs, tables and graphs from multiple datasources on a single page

Discoverer Portlet Provider is the Discoverer component that enables you to put multiple presentations (crosstabs, tables, graphs) on one page. These presentations can be either from relational or OLAP datasources. Discoverer Portlet Provider also provides an additional visualization - Gauges which is not available elsewhere in Discoverer.

control portlets through common portal page parameters

Not only can you put multiple presentations on one page, but you can also have all of these presentations driven by a common set of Portal Page-level parameters.

caching

Discoverer Portlets provide results instantaneously, since they run the queries on a schedule in the background and cache the data for instant display.

security enables greater control over what the user can see

With Discoverer portlets you can create one portal page and show different results to different users. The data can be striped either by DB users or by SSO users in the database.

personalization

Discoverer portlets can also be personalized individually by users either through the Customization pages or by clicking the Analyze link.

For more information about OracleAS Portal, see *Oracle Application Server Portal Configuration Guide*.

What are Discoverer connections and why do I need to know about them?

A Discoverer connection is a stored set of database login details, comprising:

- a database user name to identify the Discoverer end user
- a database password to authenticate the Discoverer end user
- a database name to specify the database containing the information that the Discoverer end user wants to analyze
- (optional) an Oracle Applications Responsibility to specify a Discoverer end user's responsibility when using Discoverer with Oracle Applications
- (relational data source only) an EUL to specify the End User Layer to be used
- a language to specify the language to use in Discoverer

Discoverer connections enable Discoverer end users to start Discoverer without having to re-enter database login details each time they start Discoverer.

You need to know about Discoverer connections because a connection must already exist before you can publish Discoverer data in a Discoverer portlet (for more information, see Chapter 3, "Authoring OracleAS Portal Pages with Discoverer Portlets").

In the example below, a connection called Customer Reports has been created that contains login information to connect to the database containing the reports.

Connection	n List - Microsoft Inter	net Explorer							- 🗆 ×
File Edit V	View Favorites Tools	Help							-
⇔Back → =) - 🕑 🖄 🖄	Search 💽 Favorites 🛞 Media	3	B- 3	• 2	- 📃			
Address 🙋 h	ttp://discoverer/app/urlap	pi?clientType=plus&event=apiDispla	yConne	tions				-	∂G0
ORACL Business	.€' Discoverer Pl Intelligence	us						<u>Exit</u> (
Connect To connect	to OracleBI Disc to OracleBI Discover	overer er, click on a connection nam	ne or ei	nter you	r con	nection	details d	irectly.	
Choos	e Connection				Cre	ate Con	nection		
Details	Connection <i>▽</i>	Description				Undate	e Delete		
► <u>Shov</u>	Customer Reports	Customer reports by Region				1	9		
► <u>Shov</u>	v Weekly worksheets	Weekly reports by Region				Ø	8		
▶ <u>Shov</u>	<u>Monthly worksheets</u>	Monthly reports by Region				0	1		
▶ <u>Shov</u>	<u>Annual summaries</u>	Annual reports by Region				0	1		
Conne	ct Directly				0	Retu	rn to Top		
Enteryo ≭Indica	our connection details ates required field.	below to connect directly to	Oraclel	BI Disco	werer				
С	onnect To OracleBI	Discoverer 💌		_					
* L	Jser Name								
*	Password								
*	Database 📃								
∗ End l	Jser Layer								_
	Locale Locale re	trieved from browser 💌							
	Go								
ē)							🗄 Local inti	anet	

Figure 1–6 Connections page in OracleBI Discoverer Plus/Plus OLAP

Setting up Discoverer Portlet Provider in OracleAS Portal

This chapter explains how to set up Discoverer Portlet Provider in OracleAS Portal, and contains the following topics:

- "What are the prerequisite tasks and which roles are involved for publishing Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal?"
- "How to publish Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal"
- "An overview of registering Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal"
- "How to register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal"
- "How to edit Discoverer Portlet Provider after it has been registered with OracleAS Portal"
- "Notes about changing the default performance settings for Discoverer"
- "Notes about using Discoverer Portlet Provider 10.1.2 with OracleAS Portal 9.0.4"

What are the prerequisite tasks and which roles are involved for publishing Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal?

The prerequisite tasks for publishing Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal are listed below along with the roles that carry out each task:

Install Oracle Application Server Infrastructure.

Oracle Application Server Infrastructure is installed by the OracleAS administrator.

For more information, see Oracle Application Server Installation Guide.

Install Oracle Application Server Portal.

Oracle Application Server Portal is installed by the OracleAS administrator.

Note: To use Discoverer with OracleAS Portal, make sure that the OssoIPCheck parameter value in the mod_osso.conf file is set to FALSE.

For more information, see *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide*.

Install Oracle Business Intelligence.

Oracle Business Intelligence is installed by the OracleAS administrator.

For more information, see Oracle Business Intelligence Installation Guide.

Associate a standalone Oracle Business Intelligence installation with an Oracle Application Server Infrastructure.

Association is carried out in Oracle Application Server Control by an Oracle Application Server administrator, a middle tier administrator, or the Discoverer manager.

For more information, see *Oracle Application Server Installation Guide* and *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide*.

Register Discoverer Portlet Provider.

Discoverer Portlet Provider is registered in Oracle AS Portal by the Oracle Application Server administrator.

For more information, see Chapter 2, "Setting up Discoverer Portlet Provider in OracleAS Portal" (this guide).

Create a Discoverer worksheet.

Discoverer worksheets are created by Discoverer Plus or Discoverer Desktop end users.

For more information, see Oracle Application Server Installation Guide and Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide.

Note: Before you can create a Discoverer worksheet the following tasks must have been completed:

- Create Metadata (EUL or Discoverer Catalog).

EUL Metadata is created in Oracle Discoverer Administrator by the Discoverer manager. The Discoverer Catalog Metadata is installed in Oracle Application Server Control by the Oracle Application Server administrator.

For more information, see Oracle Application Server Installation Guide and Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide.

- Create a public/private connection.

Public connections are created in Oracle Application Server Control by the Discoverer manager. Private connections are created in Discoverer Plus and Discoverer Viewer by end users. For more information, see:

- * Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide
- * Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Plus User's Guide
 - Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Viewer User's Guide

Add Discoverer portlets.

Discoverer portlets are added in OracleAS Portal, typically by Discoverer Plus and Discoverer Viewer end users.

For more information, see Chapter 3, "Authoring OracleAS Portal Pages with Discoverer Portlets" (this guide)

Note: Many of the initial tasks listed above are likely to have already been completed during or after installation.

How to publish Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal

To publish Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal, do the following:

1. (Optional) Make sure that Discoverer Portlet Provider is installed correctly by entering the following URL in an Internet browser:

http://<host.domain>:<port>/discoverer/portletprovider/

If Discoverer Portlet Provider is installed correctly, you will see the PDK-Java test page, displaying the message 'Congratulations! You have successfully reached your Provider's Test Page'. The test page also lists the Discoverer portlet types available.

2. Register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal (for more information, see "How to register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal").

This step only needs to be performed once (after installation). Typically, Oracle Application Server administrators register the Discoverer Portlet Provider.

3. Use OracleAS Portal to add Discoverer portlets to portal pages (for more information, see Chapter 3, "Authoring OracleAS Portal Pages with Discoverer Portlets").

Typically, a portal page designer would add Discoverer portlets to portal pages.

An overview of registering Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal

You must register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal before you can publish Discoverer worksheets in OracleAS Portal pages. You can only register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal once.

When you have registered Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal you can then publish Discoverer portlets in OracleAS Portal pages (for more information, see Chapter 3, "Authoring OracleAS Portal Pages with Discoverer Portlets").

How to register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal

You register Discoverer Portlet Provider to enable OracleAS Portal end users to add Discoverer business intelligence portlets to their portal pages.

To register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal:

1. Start a Web browser and enter the URL for OracleAS Portal.

For example:

http://<host.domain>:<port>/pls/portal

For more information about displaying the OracleAS Portal main page, contact the OracleAS Portal administrator.

Oracle Application Server Portal	Po	rtal Builder	<u>Home Builder Help</u>
Login to OracleAS Portal Start creating your portal nowl Login Documentation Read the <u>Release Notes</u> and other helpful <u>documentation</u> for important information about OracleAS Portal.	New to Portal? Getting Started with OracleAS Portal on Portal Center	Design your Portal Very Portal Learn How Add Content Learn How Add Content Learn How Administer your Portal Your Portal Learn How	Welcome Community Dotalcenter oracle com Join our online communit Share portlets, tips and tr view the Portal Catalog, a get the latest version of th PDK.

- 2. Click Login and connect as a Portal administrator.
- **3.** Display the Administer tab.
- **4.** Display the Portlets sub-tab.

Oracle Application Server Portal	ortal Builder Home Builder Navigator Help Edit Customize Account Info Logout
Portal Portlets Database	Welcome Build Administer New Tab
Portlet Repository	▼ × Remote Providers ▼ ×
Display Portlet Repository View, and optionally refresh, all local and remote portlets.	Register a Provider Add a provider to the portlet repository.
Refresh Portlet Repository Refresh information about all the portlets in the repository.	Edit a Provider Registration Change configuration and access information about a provider, or refresh a provider after changing its contents.
View Portlet Repository Refresh Log View the log entries entered during the refresh of the portlet repos	itory. Name Edit Refresh
	Remote Provider Group 🔭 🗙
	Register a Provider Group Register multiple providers with a single URL.
	Edit a Provider Group Registration Change the name, display name, or URL of a provider group.
	Name Edit

5. Select the **Register a Provider** link to display the Provider Information page.



6. Enter the Discoverer Portlet Provider details.

You can enter any name and display name for the Discoverer Portlet Provider. The name and display name can be different.

Hint: Give the Portlet Provider a useful display name because users will see this name when they add a Discoverer portlet to a portal page.

- 7. Choose Web from the Implementation Style drop down list.
- 8. Click Next to display the Define Connection page.

	Home Help	<u> </u>
Define Connection	?	
<pre></pre>	h Cancel	
Step 2 of 3 300		
General Properties		
Specify the URL for the Web provider and configure its communication settings.	-	
URL		
	1	
\square Web provider in same cookie domain as the portal		
Enter the Service Id, if applicable. Multiple providers can now be accessed via the same URL. The Service Id identifies a specific provider that can be accessed via the specified URL.		
Service Id		
(example: "urn:ADAPTER_PROVIDER" or "urn:webProvider")		
Specify how the user's identity will be set by the Portal when		
communicating with the Web provider.		
I he user has the same identity in the Web providers application as in the Single Sign.On identity		
The user's identity needs to be manned to a different name in the Make		-
🖆 Done	🥝 Internet	1.

- 9. Enter the Portlet Provider general properties as follows:
 - a. Enter the URL of the Discoverer Portlet Provider in the URL field, in the form:

http://<*host.domain*>:<*port*>/discoverer/portletprovider (e.g. http://myserver:80/discoverer/portletprovider)

- **b.** Clear the **Web Provider in same cookie domain as the portal** check box.
- c. Select the **The user has the same identity in the Web providers application as in the Single Sign-On identity** radio button.
- **d.** In the User/Session Information area, select the **User** radio button, and select the Once Per User Session option from the **Login Frequency** field.

Note: Do not change the default value of other fields.

10. Click Next to display the Control Access page.

Home Help
Control Access ? <pre></pre>
Grant Access Enter the name of the user or group to which you want to grant access privileges, choose the privilege level to grant, then click Add. If you are not sure of the user or group name, click the appropriate browse icon and select from the list provided.
Change Access Choose a different privilege level, or click the delete icon to revoke all privileges from a user or group.
Convridet@ 2001_Oracle Cornoration_All Rights Reserved

- 11. (optional) Change the default access control settings if necessary.
- 12. Click Finish.

End users can now use the Discoverer Portlet Provider to add portlets to an OracleAS Portal page.

Notes

If you want Discoverer end users to publish workbooks and worksheets using a
public connection, use Oracle Application Server Control to create the public
connection (for more information about creating public connections, see the Oracle
Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide).

How to edit Discoverer Portlet Provider after it has been registered with OracleAS Portal

You edit the Discoverer Portlet Provider when you want to change the way that it works. For example, you might want to change the Discoverer Portlet Provider Display Name, or change its Control Access settings.

To edit the Discoverer Portlet Provider:

1. Start a Web browser and enter the URL for the OracleAS Portal main page main page.

For example:

http://<host.domain>:<port>/pls/portal

For more information about displaying the OracleAS Portal main page, contact the OracleAS Portal administrator.

- **2.** Display the Administer tab.
- **3.** Display the Portlets sub-tab.

Oracle Application Server Portal Portal I	Builder Home Builder Navigator Help A
	Welcome Build Administer New Tab
Portal Portlets Database	
Portlet Repository 🔭 🗙	Remote Providers 🛛 🔭 🗙
Display Portlet Repository	Register a Provider
View, and optionally refresh, all local and remote portlets.	Add a provider to the portlet repository.
Refresh Portlet Repository Refresh information about all the portlets in the repository. View Portlet Repository Refresh Log View the log entries entered during the refresh of the portlet repository.	Edit a Provider Registration Change configuration and access information about a provider, or refresh a provider after changing its contents. Name
	Remote Provider Group 🛛 🛣 🛛
	Register a Provider Group
	Register multiple providers with a single URL.
	Edit a Provider Group Registration
	Change the name, display name, or URL of a provider group.
	Name Edit

 In the Remote Providers area, enter the name of the Discoverer Portlet Provider (i.e. its display name) in the Name field, and click Edit to display the Provider Information page.

Hint: If you are not sure of the display name of the Discoverer Portlet Provider, do the following:

- a. Click the Browse Providers icon to the right of the Name field.
- **b.** Choose the Discoverer Portlet Provider name from the list of Portlet Providers displayed.

Hint: The name that you choose is the display name that was specified when you registered the Discoverer Portlet Provider (for more information, see "How to register Discoverer Portlet Provider with OracleAS Portal").

- **c.** Click Edit to display the Edit Portlet Provider page.
- **5.** Make the necessary changes, as follows:
 - use the Main tab to change provider information (e.g. the display name of the Discoverer Portlet Provider)
 - use the Connection tab to change general properties (e.g. the URL of the Discoverer Portlet Provider)

- use the Access tab to change the access privileges (e.g. the control access settings of the Discoverer Portlet Provider)
- 6. Click OK to save the changes you have made.

The Discoverer Portlet Provider is updated according to changes you have made.

Notes about changing the default performance settings for Discoverer

You might want to change the default performance settings for Discoverer to improve Discoverer performance.

For more information about changing the default performance settings for Discoverer, see the *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide*.

Notes about using Discoverer Portlet Provider 10.1.2 with OracleAS Portal 9.0.4

To use Discoverer Portlet Provider 10.1.2 with OracleAS Portal 9.0.4 you must upgrade the Metadata Repository (MR) on the OracleAS infrastructure installation from Version 9.0.4 to Version 10.1.2 (for more information, see the *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide*).

Authoring OracleAS Portal Pages with Discoverer Portlets

This chapter explains how to author OracleAS Portal pages with Discoverer Portlets, and contains the following topics:

- "Pre-requisites for publishing Discoverer worksheets in OracleAS Portal"
- "How to connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page"
- "How to add a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet to an OracleAS Portal page"
- "How to add a Discoverer Worksheet portlet to an OracleAS Portal page"
- "How to add a Discoverer Gauges portlet to an OracleAS Portal page"
- "How to edit a Discoverer portlet"
- "How to customize a Discoverer portlet using Discoverer Portlet Provider"
- "How to customize the Discoverer worksheet shown in a portlet in Viewer, using the Analyze link"
- "Notes about using worksheet parameters in Discoverer portlets"
- "How to map worksheet parameters to Page Parameters in OracleAS Portal"
- "How to add Simple Parameter Form portlets to an OracleAS Portal page"
- "Notes about publishing Discoverer content in portlets"
- "About choosing database connections for Discoverer portlets"
- "About choosing refresh options for Discoverer portlets"
- "About Discoverer connections and OracleAS Single Sign-On"

Pre-requisites for publishing Discoverer worksheets in OracleAS Portal

Before you can publish Discoverer content in OracleAS Portal you need:

- Discoverer Portlet Provider to be registered in OracleAS Portal (for more information, see Chapter 2, "Setting up Discoverer Portlet Provider in OracleAS Portal").
- OracleAS Portal log in details (i.e. Single Sign-On user details)
- privileges to create, edit, and customize pages in OracleAS Portal
- access to a public Discoverer connection created by the Discoverer manager or a private Discoverer connection created while you were logged in as a Single Sign-On user

 one or more worksheets created in Discoverer Plus Relational, Discoverer Plus OLAP, or Discoverer Desktop

Notes

- Contact the OracleAS Portal administrator if you do not have the privileges to create, edit, or customize pages.
- Private Discoverer connections created in a non-Single Sign-On environment are not available in Discoverer Portlet Provider. To use a private connection to publish Discoverer data in a Discoverer portlet, Single Sign-On must be enabled in Oracle Application Server (for more information, contact the Oracle application server administrator).

To add a Discoverer portlet to an OracleAS Portal page, you:

- use the Add Portlets page to add an undefined portlet with default settings to the OracleAS Portal page
- use the Edit Defaults page to edit the default settings of the portlet to suit your needs, and make the portlet ready for use

Having created a Discoverer Portlet, you can subsequently modify it in two ways:

by editing defaults

When you use the Edit Defaults option, the changes that you make are visible to all users of an OracleAS Portal page (for more information, see "How to edit a Discoverer portlet").

by customizing

When you use the Customize option, the changes that you make are only visible to you (for more information, see "How to customize a Discoverer portlet using Discoverer Portlet Provider").

Notes

 Refer to the OracleAS Portal Online Help for more information about using the OracleAS Portal toolbars and wizards.

How to connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page

You connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page when you want to add a portlet (e.g. a Discoverer Worksheet portlet) to an OracleAS Portal page.

To connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page:

- 1. Start an Internet browser.
- 2. Display the OracleAS Portal page to which you want to add a Discoverer portlet.
- **3.** If you are not already logged in, click Login and enter your OracleAS Portal login details (i.e. your Single Sign-On details).
- 4. Click Edit to display the Edit Views page.
- 5. Select the Editing Views: Layout link at the top of the page.

Beliting Views: Graphical Layout List Mobile: Preview	Return to View I	Page
Page Group: Properties Page: Properties Style Access Create: Sub-Pages		
Path: Corporate Pages	<u>Builder</u> Navigator	Help
Actions: Hide Show Delete Move Share		
CorporateNavigationPage Edit Defaults		
Home My Content Corporate Documents	# * / ****	
□ (Simple Text) □ (My Page Edit Defaults) □ (Basic Search Box) □ ⇒ ■: → / ↑ ↓ ↓ ↓ ★		
Product News Edit Defaults		Ŧ

6. Click the Add Portlets icon in a region to display the Add Portlets page.

To add portlets, you move portlets from the **Available Portlets** list to the **Selected Portlets** list.

7. In the **Available Portlets** area, select Discoverer Portlet Provider or navigate to where the Discoverer Portlet Provider is located and select it.

Hint: If you have recently installed Oracle Application Server and/or Oracle Business Intelligence, the Discoverer portlets might be in the Portlet Staging Area folder. If you cannot find the Discoverer Portlet Provider, contact the Discoverer manager or OracleAS Portal administrator.

Add Portlets	and the second
	OK Cance
Add Portlets To Region	
Drill down to the appropriate provider, then click the you are not sure of the location of the portlet in the F	portlet name to add the portlet to this region. If ^o ortlet Repository, use the Search field.
vailable Portlets Search	Go Selected Portlets
Discoverer Portiet Repository : Portiet Stading Area : Discoverer Discoverer Gauges Portiet for displaying Gauges Discoverer Worksheet Portiet for viewing Discoverer Relational and Olap Worksheets Discoverer List of Worksheets Portiet for displaying List of Worksheets	*Discoverer List of Worksheets *Discoverer List of Worksheets Discoverer Gauges Discoverer Worksheet

The three Discoverer portlet types (Discoverer Worksheet, Discoverer List of Worksheets, and Discoverer Gauges) are displayed in the Available Portlets area.

8. Click the Discoverer portlets you wish to add to the Selected Portlets list.

- **9.** (Optional) Use the up and down arrows to change the order of the portlets in the Selected Portlets list.
- **10.** Click OK.

How to add a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet to an OracleAS Portal page

You add a List of Worksheets portlet to an OracleAS Portal page when you want to provide Discoverer worksheet links in OracleAS Portal. For example, you might want to publish a link for sales worksheets to colleagues in a sales department.

For more information, see "About the Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet".

To add a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet:

- Connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page (for more information, see "How to connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page").
- 2. Select the **Discoverer List of Worksheets** link to add the portlet to the **Selected Portlets** list.
- 3. Click OK to close the Add Portlets page.
- **4.** Select the **Edit Defaults** link next to the portlet that you have just added to start the portlet wizard.

Home Builder Navigalor
Edit Portlet Defaults
Database Connections List of Worksheets Refresh Options Portlet Options Review Fortlet Defaults
Database Connections
Set the connections used to select and display the list of worksheets. A password is not (Help) (Cancel) Step 1 of 5 Negt) required when connecting to a Public Connection.
Publisher
Set this connection to select the list of worksheets.
Publisher's Connection video52 * 💌
View Detail of All Connections
Description video52
Users Logged In
Specify how the list of worksheets should be displayed to authenticated users.
Connection 🛛 © D splay the same list cf worksheets to all authenticated users using connection 🛛 [Publisher's Connection] 🗾 🖕

- **5.** Use the Database Connections page to specify how OracleAS Portal users can access the portlet (for more information, see "About choosing database connections for Discoverer portlets").
- 6. Use the List of Worksheets page to select the worksheets to display in the portlet.
- 7. Use the Refresh Options page to specify when the workbook list is refreshed.
- **8.** Use the Portlet Options page to specify the portlet name, the order of worksheets, and the maximum number of worksheets to display.

For example, you might want to display a maximum of ten worksheets in alphabetical order.

- **9.** Use the Review Portlet Defaults page to check that you have selected the correct portlet options.
- **10.** Click **Finish** to save the defaults.

You can now view the Discoverer list of worksheets portlet. It might take a few minutes for the portlet to retrieve its content for the first time.

How to add a Discoverer Worksheet portlet to an OracleAS Portal page

You add a Worksheet portlet when you want to add Discoverer worksheet data to a page in OracleAS Portal. For example, you might want to publish a sales report to colleagues in a sales department.

For more information, see "About the Discoverer Worksheet portlet".

To add a Discoverer Worksheet portlet:

- Connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page (for more information, see "How to connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page").
- 2. Select the **Discoverer Worksheet Portlet** link to add a portlet to the **Selected Portlets** list.
- 3. Click OK to close the Add Portlets page.
- **4.** Select the **Edit Defaults** link next to the portlet that you have just added to start the portlet wizard.

	Hor	<u>ne Euilder Navigator</u>
Edit Portlet Defaults		
The second		
	<u> </u>	-0
Database VA	orksheet Parameters Portlet Refresh R Options Options	evew Portlet Defaults
Database Connections		
Set the connections used to a is not required when connecting	elect and display the worksheet. A password (Telp) (Cancel) g to a Public Connection	Step 1 of 6 Next
Publisher		
Specify the connection wh	ere the worksheet to publish is located.	
Publisher's Connection	video52 = 💌	
Commediation	View Detail of All Connections	
Description	video52	• 1
Ë		Local intranet

- **5.** Use the Database Connections page to specify how OracleAS Portal users can access the portlet (for more information, see "About choosing database connections for Discoverer portlets").
- **6.** Use the Worksheet page to select the worksheet to display in the portlet.
- **7.** (optional) If parameters are defined for the worksheet, use the Edit Parameters page to specify parameter values.

Parameter values provide dynamic input to worksheets. For example, to focus on specific information, or to provide input to calculations (for more information about parameters, see the *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Plus User's Guide*).

Note: The Edit Parameters page is not displayed if you are publishing a worksheet containing OLAP data.

8. Use the Portlet Options page to specify the parts of the worksheet to publish.

For example, you might want to publish the worksheet data only, the worksheets graph only, or both the worksheet data and the worksheet's graph.

- 9. Use the Refresh Options page to specify when the worksheet data is refreshed.
- **10.** Use the Review Portlet Defaults page to check that you have selected the correct portlet options.
- **11.** Click **Finish** to save the defaults.

You can now view the Discoverer worksheet in the portlet. It might take a few minutes for the portlet to retrieve its content for the first time.

How to add a Discoverer Gauges portlet to an OracleAS Portal page

You add a Discoverer Gauges portlet when you want to display Discoverer worksheet data as gauges in a page in OracleAS Portal. For example, you might want to create a management dashboard that monitors key performance indicators.

For more information, see "About the Discoverer Gauges portlet".

To add a Discoverer Gauges portlet:

- Connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page (for more information, see "How to connect to OracleAS Portal and display the Add Portlets page").
- 2. Select the **Discoverer Gauges Portlet** link to add a portlet to the **Selected Portlets** list.
- **3.** Click OK to close the Add Portlets page.
- **4.** Select the **Edit Defaults** link next to the portlet that you have just added to start the portlet wizard.

	Home	Builder	Navigator	1
Edit Portlet Defaults				
	0			
Database Connections Worksheet Parameters Gauge Portlet Options	Refresh Op	tions	≫ More	
Database Connections				
Set the connections used to select and display the worksheet. A password Help is not required when connecting to a Public Connection	Cancel	Step 1	of 7 Next	
Publisher				
Specify the connection where the worksheet to publish is located.				
Publisher's video52 *				
View Detail of All Connections				
Description video52				
				-
		🚰 Lo	al intranet	11.

- **5.** Use the Database Connections page to specify how OracleAS Portal users can access the portlet (for more information, see "About choosing database connections for Discoverer portlets").
- 6. Use the Worksheet page to select the worksheet to display in the portlet.
- **7.** (optional) If parameters are defined for the worksheet, use the Edit Parameters page to specify parameter values.

Parameter values provide dynamic input to worksheets. For example, to focus on specific information, or to provide input to calculations (for more information about parameters, see the *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Plus User's Guide*).

Note: The Edit Parameters page is not displayed if you are publishing a worksheet containing OLAP data.

- **8.** Use the Gauge page to specify the rows and columns to publish, and specify threshold values for the gauges.
- 9. Use the Portlet Options page to specify the parts of the worksheet to publish.

For example, you might want to publish the worksheet data only, the worksheet's graph only, or worksheet data and a worksheet's graph.

- **10.** Use the Refresh Options page to specify when the worksheet data is refreshed.
- **11.** Use the Review Portlet Defaults page to check that you have selected the correct portlet options.
- **12.** Click **Finish** to save the defaults.

You can now view the Discoverer Gauges portlet. It might take a few minutes for the portlet to retrieve its content for the first time.

How to edit a Discoverer portlet

You edit a Discoverer portlet when you want to change how a portlet is displayed to OracleAS Portal users. For example, you might want to display a different worksheet in a Discoverer Gauges portlet.

To edit a Discoverer portlet:

- 1. Start an Internet browser.
- **2.** Display the OracleAS Portal page containing the Discoverer portlet that you want to edit.
- **3.** If you are not already logged in, click Login and enter your OracleAS Portal login details (i.e. your Single Sign-On details).
- 4. Click Edit to display the page in edit mode.
- 5. Select the Layout link from the Editing Views area at the top of the page.
- **6.** Select the **Edit Defaults** link next to the portlet that you want to edit to display the Edit Defaults page.

For example, for a Discoverer Worksheet portlet, the Edit Worksheet Portlet Defaults page is displayed.

	Hame Builder Navgetor
Edit Portlet Defaults	
Edit Worksheet Portlet Defaults	
	Cancel Done
▼Database Connections	
These are the connections used to select and display the worksheet. Publisher Video Store - Analytics Users Logged in (Publisher's Connection) Allow users to change database connection Users Not Logged in No Connection (Do not display data)	(Update)
₩ Worksheet	
This is the Worksheet displayed in the Worksheets portlet. Worksheet Crosstab Layout Workbuok Video Tuturial Workbook Description Type Owner Last Modified	(Update)
▼Portlet Options	
These are the portlet options. Portlet Title Video Tutorial Workbook - Crosstab Layout Contert Display Options Graph Tablo/Crosstab Worksheet Title Wirksheet Title	Update
Allow analyze the worksheet in Viewer Launch Worksheet Viewer in the same window Allow saving changes made in Viewar Viewar	
TRefresh Options	
These are the refresh options. First Refresh Darie 01:27 First Refresh Darie 01/28/2004 Refresh Frequency Nave: repeat	(Update)
	Cancel Done

7. Use the Update buttons on the Edit Portlet Defaults page to change the portlet settings as required.

For example, to update the portlet options, click Update in the Portlet Options area to display the Portlet Options page and make changes.

8. Click Done to save your changes.

You can now view the updated Discoverer portlet.

How to customize a Discoverer portlet using Discoverer Portlet Provider

You customize a Discoverer portlet when you want to make changes that are only visible to you, not to other OracleAS Portal users. For example, you might want to apply a stoplight format to a Discoverer Worksheet portlet.

For more information about the different customizations you can make in Discoverer Portlet Provider and Discoverer Viewer, see "About using OracleAS Portal as a personalization framework for Discoverer".

To customize a Discoverer portlet using Discoverer Portlet Provider:

- 1. Start an Internet browser.
- **2.** Display the OracleAS Portal page containing the Discoverer portlet that you want to edit.
- **3.** If you are not already logged in, click **Login** and enter your OracleAS Portal login details (i.e. your Single Sign-On details).
- **4.** Click **Customize** to display the appropriate Customize Portlet page for the Discoverer portlet you selected.

For example, for a Discoverer Gauges portlet, the Customize Gauges portlet page is displayed.

	<u>Home Builder Navigator</u>
Customize Portlet	
Customize Gauges Portlet	
	Help Cancel Apply
▼Database Connection	
This is the connection used to select and displ User's Connection <default></default> - test	lay the worksheet.
►Gauge	
► Portlet Options	
	(Help) (Cancel) (Apply)

- 5. Use the Customize Portlet page to make the required changes to the portlet.
- 6. Click Apply to save customizations to the portlet.

You can now view the updated Discoverer portlet. Customization changes that you make are only visible to you, not to other OracleAS Portal users.

How to customize the Discoverer worksheet shown in a portlet in Viewer, using the Analyze link

You typically customize the Discoverer worksheet shown in a portlet to change its layout or create a personalized view of it.

For more information about the different customizations you can do in Discoverer Portlet Provider and Discoverer Viewer, see "About using OracleAS Portal as a personalization framework for Discoverer".

Note: You can choose not to allow users to analyze in Discoverer Viewer, or not to allow users to save their changes back from Discoverer Viewer, by using settings in the Portlet Options page (displayed using the Edit Defaults link).

To customize the Discoverer worksheet shown in a portlet in Viewer, using the Analyze link:

- 1. Start an Internet browser.
- **2.** Display the OracleAS Portal page containing the Discoverer portlet that you want to edit.
- **3.** If you are not already logged in, click Login and enter your OracleAS Portal login details (i.e. your Single Sign-On details).
- **4.** Select the Analyze link to display the worksheet in Discoverer Viewer.
- 5. Make changes to the worksheet in Discoverer Viewer.
- 6. Select the Save and return to Portal link.

Hint: The **Save and return to Portal** link is only displayed if you have the necessary privileges to save changes. If you do not have the necessary privileges, only the **Cancel and return to Portal** link is displayed. If you require privileges, contact the portlet publisher.

You can now view the updated Discoverer worksheet in the portlet.

Notes about using worksheet parameters in Discoverer portlets

If you create Discoverer portlets that contain worksheet parameters, you can map the worksheet parameters to OracleAS Portal Page Parameters and create a Simple Parameter Form portlet. This enables a portlet user to easily specify a parameter value for a page level parameter to update many different Discoverer portlets at the same time. To accomplish this you:

- map the Discoverer worksheet parameter to a Generic (e.g. Discoverer portlet) Page Parameter (for more information, see "How to map worksheet parameters to Generic Page Parameters")
- create an OracleAS Portal Page Parameter (for more information, see "How to create a Page Parameter")
- map the OracleAS Portal Page Parameter to the Generic Page Parameter (for more information, see "How to map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter")
- add a Simple Parameter Form portlet to the OracleAS Portal page containing the Discoverer portlets (for more information, see "How to add Simple Parameter Form portlets to an OracleAS Portal page")

For example, you could create three Discoverer portlets, each one containing a worksheet with a parameter called City_WS_param. While editing the defaults of each portlet, you map City_WS_param to a generic Discoverer portlet parameter, say DiscoParameter1. Make a note of each generic Discoverer portlet parameter and which worksheet parameters they map to so that you can correctly set up the OracleAS Portal page parameters.

When you get all three portlets on an OracleAS Portal page, click the Edit button and select the Page: Properties link. Display the Parameters tab of the Edit Page screen. If there is no suitable page parameter available, add a new page parameter called City_Page_Param. In the Page Parameter Properties section, you will probably want to make the parameter Customizable and may optionally set the Display Name, Default Value and Description. In the Portlet Parameter Values section, for each appropriate portlet, map DiscoParameter1 to use Page Parameter City_Page_Param.

Note: You can map parameters in both Worksheet portlets and Gauges portlets. In other words, you can update both Gauges portlets and Worksheet portlets at the same time with a single parameter value.

You can also enable users to easily set page level parameter values by adding one or more Simple Parameter Form portlets to the portal page. Portlet users can then specify a parameter value in a Simple Parameter Form portlet to update many Discoverer portlets at the same time (for more information, see "How to add Simple Parameter Form portlets to an OracleAS Portal page").

For more information about mapping worksheet parameters to portal page level parameters, see "How to map worksheet parameters to Page Parameters in OracleAS Portal".

How to map worksheet parameters to Page Parameters in OracleAS Portal

You map worksheet parameters to Page Parameters in OracleAS Portal to enable portlet users to specify a Page Parameter value that updates many Discoverer portlets at the same time. For example, when a portlet user chooses January as a Page Parameter value, you might want three Discoverer worksheets to be refreshed with data for January.

To map a worksheet parameter to a Page Parameter you:

- map a worksheet parameter to one of the Generic Page Parameters
- map the Generic Page Parameter to a portal Page Parameter

Discoverer provides ten default Generic Page Parameters called DiscoParameter1, DiscoParameter2, DiscoParameter3, and so on through to DiscoParameter10.

The figure below shows the process of mapping worksheet parameters to Page Parameters.

worksheet parameter (e.g. Month)	
Generic Page Parameter (e.g. DiscoParameter1)	
Page Parameter (e.g. MonthPP)	

Figure 3–1 Mapping a worksheet parameter to a Page Parameter in Oracle Portal

To map Discoverer worksheet parameters to portal Page Parameters:

1. For each Discoverer portlet, map a worksheet parameter to a Generic Page Parameter (for more information, see "How to map worksheet parameters to Generic Page Parameters").

For example, you might map a worksheet parameter called Month to a Generic Page Parameter called DiscoParameter1.

2. (optional) If you have not already created a Page Parameter in the OracleAS Portal page you want to edit, create a Page Parameter (for more information, see "How to create a Page Parameter").

For example, you might create a Page Parameter in OracleAS Portal called MonthPP.

3. Map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter for each Discoverer portlet on an OracleAS Portal page (for more information, see "How to map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter").

For example, you might map DiscoParameter1 to MonthPP.

How to map worksheet parameters to Generic Page Parameters

You map a worksheet parameter to Generic Page Parameters to enable you to later map the Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter in OracleAS Portal.

To map a worksheet parameter to a Generic Page Parameter:

- **1.** Start an Internet browser.
- 2. Display the page containing the Discoverer portlet that you want to edit.
- **3.** If you are not already logged in, click Login and enter your portal login details (i.e. your Single Sign-On details).
- **4.** Create a new Discoverer Worksheet portlet or Gauges portlet (or edit an existing portlet) and navigate to the Parameters page, as follows:
 - If you are creating a new portlet, add a new Discoverer Worksheet portlet or Gauges portlet and navigate to the Parameters page.

For more information, see "How to add a Discoverer Worksheet portlet to an OracleAS Portal page" or "How to add a Discoverer Gauges portlet to an OracleAS Portal page".

• If you are editing an existing portlet, select the Edit Defaults link next to the portlet to edit, and navigate to the Parameters page.

For more information, see "How to edit a Discoverer portlet".

Oracle Portal displays the Parameters page.

P	2				
Database Connections	Worksheet	Parameters	Portlet Options	Refresh Options	More
Parameter Values					
Select default parameter val	lues.		Help	Cancel B	ack Step 3 of 6 Next
Select values for the followi * Indicates required field	ing parameters.				
Select one or more					
values for Calendar Month:	Jan		%		
IVIOLILIT.					
Mohth.	(Example: Nov))			
Allow logged in users to	(Example: Nov)) ameter values.			
Allow logged in users to	(Example: Nov) o customize para) ameter values.			
Allow logged in users to	(Example: Nov) ocustomize para ers Mappin) ameter values. I g			
Allow logged in users to Page Paramet To map parameters for 1 Discovers portlet harea	(Example: Nov) o customize para ers Mappin this portlet to pa) ameter values. 19 ge parameters, you pric portlet paramete	must map the spec	ific worksheet pa	rameters to generic
✓ Allow logged in users to	(Example: Nov) o customize para ers Mappin this portlet to pa neters. The gene ortlet Parame) ameter values. ge parameters, you eric portlet paramete ter	must map the spec rs then need to be	ific worksheet pa mapped to Portal	rameters to generic Page Parameters.
Allow logged in users to Page Paramet To map parameters for Discoverer portlet parameter Parameter Generic P Month Discoveration	(Example: Nov) o customize para ers Mappin this portlet to pa neters. The genu ortlet Parame ameter1) ameter values. 19 ge parameters, you peric portiet paramete ter	must map the spec rs then need to be	ific worksheet pa mapped to Portal	rameters to generic Page Parameters.
Allow logged in users to Page Paramet To map parameters for Discoverer portlet para Parameter Generic P Month DiscoPare	(Example: Nov) o customize para ers Mappin this portlet to pa neters. The generative fortlet Parame ameter1) ameter values. ge parameters, you eric portiet paramete ter	must map the spec rs then need to be Help	ific worksheet pa mapped to Portal	rameters to generic Page Parameters. ack Step 3 of 7 Next)
Allow logged in users to Page Paramet To map parameters for Discoverer portlet para Parameter Generic P Month DiscoPare	(Example: Nov, o customize para ers Mappin this portlet to pa neters. The gen cortlet Parame ameter!) ameter values. ge parameters, you eric portiet paramete ter	must map the spec rs then need to be <u>Help</u>	ific worksheet pa mapped to Portal <u>Cancel</u> B	rameters to generic Page Parameters. ack_Step 3 of 7 Next

5. Use the **Generic Page Parameter** drop down list next to a worksheet parameter in the **Parameter** column to map that worksheet parameter to one of the Generic Page Parameters provided by Discoverer (e.g. DiscoParameter1).

For example, to map a worksheet parameter called Month to DiscoParameter1, select DiscoParameter1 from the **Generic Page Parameter** drop down list.

6. Save changes to the portlet.

Having mapped a worksheet parameter to a Generic Page Parameter, you must map the Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter in OracleAS Portal (for more information, see How to map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter).

How to create a Page Parameter

You create a Page Parameter to enable portlet users to specify a Page Parameter value that updates many Discoverer portlets at the same time.

To create a Page Parameter:

- 1. Start an Internet browser.
- **2.** Display the OracleAS Portal page containing the Discoverer portlet that you want to edit.
- **3.** If you are not already logged in, click Login and enter your OracleAS Portal login details (i.e. your Single Sign-On details).

		~
Contemporal Contem	Mobile: Preview	View Page
Page Group: Properties (Page: Properties	Style Access Create Sub-Fages	
Path: Portal Builder	Go to Page Builder	Navigator Help
🖶 🖙 티 🥒 🏛 포함 🖬 🗶		
/ /		
Oracle Application Server	Home Builder	Navigator Help
Portal DIN		intipfo Logent
/ 🖉 🥙 Welcome 🌖	🖊 🖉 Build 👔 🖉 Administer 👔 🖉 Discoverer 🕦 👎 🛱 🖉	,
📑 🖙 🗄 🥒 🗄 🎞 🔂 🔀 Login/Quicktips	s 📴 🗘 🖂 🖬 🗮 🗙 Welcome	C
	Come ORCLADMIN to OracleAS Portal	
Quick Tips	토 역 리 / 프로프 XNew to Portal? 토 역 리 / 프로프 >	& Getting Started
What do you want u do?		
 Build pages: Click the Build tab. Buouse parts exists: Click 	New to Portal? Cosign	
Navigator at the top of any page	Getting Starled with your Portal	
 Set up the portal. Click the Administer 	OracleAS Portal	rn How
tap.	on Portal Center	*
<		>

- 4. Select the **Properties** link in the **Page** area to display the Edit Page dialog.
- 5. Display the Parameters tab.
- 6. Enter a name for the Page Parameter in the New Parameter field and click Add.

Hint: The name should be a short unique string with no spaces or separating characters (e.g. MonthPP).

The page parameter that you created is added to the list in the **Page Parameter Properties** area.

	Home Builder Navigator Help
Main Template Style Access Optional Para	meters Events Regions
	Apply OK Cancel
New Page Parameter	
Enter a name for the parameter and click Add.	
Parameter Name	Add
Page Parameter Properties	
Enter a display name, which identifies the parameter to other users. description. Select whether to allow users to change the value of the Click the delete icon to remove the parameter from the page, and clic the parameters are displayed when users are customizing the page. Name Display Name Default Value	If you wish, enter a default value, and a parameter when they customize the page. ck the move icon to change the order in which Customizable Description
X MonthPP MonthPP	
Portlet Parameter Values Expand a portlet to view its parameters and specify how to set the va parameters to page parameters, system variables, or constant values	alues of those parameters. You can map portles.
Portlets	
Expand All Collapse All	
Test parameters:Banner (no parameters)	
Discoverer Worksheet	
Discoverer Worksheet	
<	Apply OK Cancel
	,,

7. Click OK to save the page properties.

You can now map Generic Page Parameters to the new Page parameter (for more information, see "How to map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter").

How to map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter

You map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter to enable portlet users to specify a Page Parameter value that updates many Discoverer portlets at the same time.

Hint: Before you can map a Page Parameter to a Generic Page Parameter, you must first map a worksheet parameter to a Generic Page Parameter (for more information, see "How to map worksheet parameters to Page Parameters in OracleAS Portal") and create a Page Parameter if one is not available (for more information, see "How to create a Page Parameter").

To map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter:

- 1. Start an Internet browser.
- **2.** Display the OracleAS Portal page containing the Discoverer portlet that you want to edit.
- **3.** If you are not already logged in, click Login and enter your OracleAS Portal login details (i.e. your Single Sign-On details).

		~
Editing Views: Graphical Layout List	Mobile: Preview	View Page
Page Group: Properties (Page: Properties	Style Access Create Sub-Fages	
Path: Portal Builder	Go to Page B	uilder Navigator Help
등 🗣 티 🥒 🏛 표명 🗄 🗶		
/ <i>@</i>		
Oracle Application Server	Bestel Besileter Home B	uilder Navigator Help
Portal	Portal Builder	Accounting Locaut
/ 🖉 🖉 Welcome 🏹	🛛 🖉 Build 👌 🖉 Administer 👌 🖉 Discoverer 👌 🍕	₽₩ ∕₩₩₩₩
📑 🖙 🛱 🥒 🕇 🎞 🖶 📑 🗙 Login/Quicktips	📮 🗣 🗮 🥒 🔳 🖽 🗰 🗙 Welcome	l.
<u>/</u>	Welcome ORCLADMIN to OracleAS Port	al
Quick Tips	👵 🗣 🛱 🥒 🖀 🏭 🗮 New to Portal? 📑 🗣 🛒 🧷 🖽	🕂 🕂 🗙 Getting Started
What do you want to do?		
 Build pages: Click the Build tab. Browse portal objects: Click 	New to Portal? Cosign	
Navigator at the top of any page	Getting Starled with your Porta	
 Set up the portal. Click the Administer 	OracleAS Portal	Learn How
tap.	on Portal Center	~
<		2

- 4. Select the **Properties** link in the **Page** area to display the Edit Page dialog.
- **5.** Display the Parameters tab.
- **6.** In the Portlets table in the Portlet Parameter Values area, click on a portlet name (e.g. Discoverer Worksheet) to display the list of Generic Page Parameters (e.g. DiscoParameter1, DiscoParameter2).

Expand	a portlet to view its parameters and specify how to set the values of those parameters. You can map port ters to name narameters, system variables, or constant values.
parame	tere to page parametero, ej etern variableo, el constant valdeo.
	Portlets
	Expand All Collapse All
	Test parameters:Banner (no parameters)
	Discoverer Worksheet
	Portlet Parameter
	O DiscoParameter1 = Null
	0 DiscoParameter2 = Null
	O DiscoParameter3 = Null

7. Select Page Parameter from the drop down list next to the Generic Page Parameter to which you want to map the Page Parameter.

Portlet Parameter Values							
Expand a portlet to view its parameters and specify how to set the values of those parameters. You can map porth							
parameters to page parameters, system variables, or constant values.							
Portlets							
Expand All Collapse All							
Test parameters:Banner (no parameters)							
Discoverer Worksheet							
Portlet Parameter							
DiscoParameter1 = Page Parameter							
O DiscoParameter2 = Null							
O DiscoParameter3 = Null							

8. Select the Page Parameter (e.g. MonthPP) from the second drop down list that is displayed when you select Page Parameter in the previous step.

Expand	a portlet to view its parameters and specify how to set the values of those parameters. You can map po
paramet	ters to page parameters, system variables, or constant values.
	Portlets
	Expand All Collapse All
	►Test parameters:Banner (no parameters)
	Discoverer Worksheet
	Portlet Parameter
	DiscoParameter1 = Page Parameter MonthPP
	0 DiscoParameter2 = Null
	0 DiscoParameter3 = Null

9. Click OK to save the page properties.

Oracle Portal refreshes the portal page.

You can now create a Simple Parameter Form portlet to enable portlet users to specify a Page Parameter value that will update many different Discoverer portlets at the same time (for more information, see "How to add Simple Parameter Form portlets to an OracleAS Portal page").

Note: An alternative (but more time consuming) method for portlet users to specify a Page Parameter value that updates many Discoverer portlets is as follows:

- **a.** Select the Customize link to display the Customize Page page.
- **b.** Display the Parameters tab.
- **c.** In the Page Parameter Values area, use the **Value** field next to a Page Parameters to specify a parameter value.

For example, you might enter January if you want Discoverer worksheet portlets to be refreshed with data for January.

d. Click OK to save the changes.

The Page Parameter value that you specified is applied to Discoverer portlets in that page.

How to add Simple Parameter Form portlets to an OracleAS Portal page

You add a Simple Parameter Form portlet to an OracleAS Portal page to enable users to easily apply a parameter value to update the data displayed in one or more Discoverer portlets.

Hint: Before you can create a Simple Parameter Form portlet you must first:

- map a worksheet parameter to a Generic Page Parameter (for more information, see "How to map worksheet parameters to Page Parameters in OracleAS Portal")
- create a Page Parameter if one is not available (for more information, "How to create a Page Parameter")
- map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter (for more information, see "How to map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter")

To add a Simple Parameter Form portlet to an OracleAS Portal page:

- 1. Start an Internet browser.
- **2.** Display the OracleAS Portal page containing the Discoverer portlets, where you want to add a Simple Parameter Form portlet.

3. If you are not already logged in, click Login and enter your OracleAS Portal login details (i.e. your Single Sign-On details).

		~
Bediting Views: Graphical Layout List	Mobile: Preview	View Page
Page Group: Properties (Page: Properties	Style Access Create Sub-Fages	
Path: Portal Builder		Go to Page Builder Navigator Help
음 🐂 리 🥒 레크린 🗙		
/ @		
Oracle Application Server	Destal Desilates	Home Builder Navigator Help
Portal	Portal Builder	Edit Custonize AccountInfo Logart
/ 🖉 Welcome	🛛 🖉 🖉 Build 👔 🖉 🖉 Administer 👔 🖉	🖞 Discoverer 🍾 🎙 🛱 🚝 🖉 🎛 🖽 🗮 🗶
📑 📬 🗮 🥒 🛨 🎞 🖶 🖬 🗙 Login/Quicktips	🗄 🖙 🛱 🥒 🗎 🎚 🖶 🗶 Welcome	E
	Velcome ORCLAD	MIN to OracleAS Portal
Quick Tips	🖪 😘 🗮 🥒 🖿 🖬 🖶 🗶 New to Portal?	🛼 🔩 🗮 🥒 🗎 🖽 🖽 🗰 🗰 Getting Started
«Vhat du you want o du?	/@ (<u>/</u> @
 Build pages: Click the Build tab. Browce parts: click 	New to Portal?	∠ Design
Navigator at the top of any page	Getting Starled with	your Portal
 Set up the portal. Click the Administer 	OracleAS Portal	Learn How
tao.	on Portal Center	/@ 🗸
<		

- 4. Select the Add Portlet link to display the Add Portlets page.
- **5.** Select the Portlet Builders link and the Simple Parameter Form link to add a Simple Parameter Form to the list of Selected Portlets.
- 6. Click OK.

OracleAS Portal displays an undefined Simple Parameter Form portlet.

Simple Parameter Form	रू ×
Define your Simple Parameter Form.	

7. Select the Define link in the undefined Simple Parameter Form.

OracleAS Portal displays the Define your Simple Parameter Form pages where you enter the details required to create a Simple Parameter Form portlet.

For example, you might enter the following information in the Entry Fields area for a Month page parameter.

Entry Fields									
Select which parameters to display in the form.									
	Name	Label	Parameter	Alignment	Display As	Width	List of Values		
	Field1	Month	Param1 🔽	Left 💌	List of Values ⊻	20	Jan, Feb, Mar, Apr, May,		
	Field2	Department	Param2 🔽	Left 🔽	Hidden 🗸 🗸	20			

- 8. Click Finish when you have entered all the appropriate details.
- 9. OracleAS Portal displays a new Simple Parameter Form.

1	Simple Parame	ter Fo	rm	Customize 🔻	×
	Month	Jan	~		
				Submit	

- **10.** Select the **Properties** link in the **Page** area to display the Edit Page dialog.
- **11.** Create a Page Parameter (e.g. MonthPP) if one is not available (for more information, see "How to create a Page Parameter").

12. Map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter.

You complete this step once for the Simple Parameter Form portlet and once for each Discoverer portlet that you want the Simple Parameter Form to update (for more information, see "How to map a Generic Page Parameter to a Page Parameter").

- **13.** Display the Events tab.
- 14. Select the Submit link under the Simple Parameter Form link.

OracleAS Portal displays an additional area. This are enables you to specify what happens.

15. Click the Browse icon and select the page to which the parameter value is sent when this event is raised (i.e. when a user clicks the Submit button in the Simple Parameter Form).

For example, to specify that a Simple Parameter Form portlet will submit its parameter value to the Discoverer BI Demo page, you would select the **Go to page** page radio button (see screenshot below).

When	this	event	is	raised:	

- 💿 Go to page: Discoverer BI Demo Pa 🗐
- 🔘 Redisplay page: Discoverer Bl Demo Page

OracleAS Portal displays a Page Input area.

16. Enter appropriate information into the fields that appear in the Page Input area.

For example, to specify that the input from raising the event (i.e. when a user clicks the Submit button in the Simple Parameter Form) is Parameter 1 you would select the following values:

Pass data to in	nput parameters	of page	New	Discoverer	BI Demo	Page
Page Input						
MonthPP =	Event Output	*	Parar	meter 1		*

17. Click OK to apply your changes.

You have now added a Simple Parameter Form portlet to an OracleAS Portal page, enabling users to easily apply a parameter value to update the data displayed in one or more Discoverer portlets.

Hint: You can create more Simple Parameter Forms to update other parameter values in Discoverer portlets.

For more information, see:

- Oracle Application Server Portal Configuration Guide.
- Oracle Application Server Portal Help system

Notes about publishing Discoverer content in portlets

When creating a Discoverer portlet, you have a large degree of control over what data is displayed. You also have control over when and how frequently the portlet is refreshed. When creating a portlet, you should carefully consider these settings to make sure that they meet your requirements and ensure a good balance between timeliness of data and performance of your system. The following sections contain information about publishing Discoverer portlets:

- "About choosing database connections for Discoverer portlets"
- "About choosing refresh options for Discoverer portlets"
- "About Discoverer connections and OracleAS Single Sign-On"

About choosing database connections for Discoverer portlets

When you create a Discoverer portlet (or edit an existing Discoverer portlet), the first step is to select the database connections that will:

- determine the Discoverer content and options displayed in the portlet
- determine the data that is displayed to the portlet user

You select database connections using the Database Connections page (see example screenshots below).

Figure 3–2	Database Connections page for the Discoverer List of Worksheets port	let
------------	--	-----

4	
•	OO
Database Connec	ctions List of Worksheets Portlet Options Refresh Options Review Portlet Defaults
Database Connections	
Set the connections used to select connecting to a Public Connection.	and display the list of worksheets. A password is not required when Help Cancel Step 1 of 5 Next
Publisher	
Set this connection to select the	list of worksheets.
Publisher's Connection	OLAP Connection * View Detail of All Connections
Description	GUEST User
Users Logged In	
Specify how the list of workshee	ts should be displayed to logged in users.
Connection	⊙ Display the same list of worksheets to all logged in users using (Publisher's Connection) ▼ (Publisher's Connection)
	O Display a different list of worksheets by allowing users to customize database connection
	Show a default list of worksheets using connection (Publisher's Connection) 💌
Users Not Logged In	
Specify how the list of workshee	ts should be displayed to not logged in users.
Connection	⊙ Do not display list of worksheets
	🔿 Display list of worksheets using 🛛 (Publisher's Connection) 💌
	(Help) (Cancel) Step 1 of 5 Next



Figure 3–3 Database Connections page for the Discoverer Worksheet and Discoverer Gauges portlets

The **Publisher's Connection** list displays the names of all Discoverer connections that are available to you as an OracleAS Portal user. Public connections will be indicated by a trailing asterisk '*'. Private connections that you created while connected to Discoverer as a Single Sign-On user are also displayed.

The Discoverer connection you select in the **Publisher's Connection** field will determine what worksheets or lists of worksheets are available to you in later steps of the wizard. It will also determine which connections are available to set for data display for other users (Users Logged In to Portal and Users Not Logged In). The list of connections available on the rest of this page is limited to those that have the same database and EUL of the connection you choose for the Publisher's Connection. This helps ensure that users will be able to see the content you choose if you select a connection other than the Publisher's Connection for other users.

You specify how data will be displayed to users when they are logged in to OracleAS Portal in the **Users Logged In** area of this page. You have three choices on how to display the data to these logged-in users.

 You can display the same data to all users using the connection selected in the Publisher's Connection field, or select another Discoverer connection from the list.

Note: For List of Worksheets portlets this will run only one query for all users, and will show the same data returned by running the single query.

If the worksheet you are including in the portlet is based on tables in your database that are striped by SSO user, you can select the **Display different data using the Publisher's Connection** option. Choosing this option enables the portlet to use the Publisher's Connection to get access to the worksheet and passes the OracleAS Portal/SSO username to the database to return only data that the logged in, OracleAS Portal/SSO user has access to.

Note: For List of Worksheets portlets this will run one query per SSO user.

If the worksheet you are displaying in the portlet is based on tables in your database that are striped by database user, you can select the Allow Users to Customize Database Connection option. Choosing this option enables the user to determine which connection they want to use to get access to the worksheet and the data. In this case the user will only see the worksheet/list of worksheets/gauge if they have access to the published worksheet. You can also optionally select a connection to determine what data will be displayed by default before the user customizes a portlet.

Note: For List of Worksheets portlets this will run one query for every SSO user that customizes this portlet.

You specify how data will be displayed to users who do not log in to OracleAS Portal but still have access to the page that contains your portlet. These users are sometimes referred to as Public users. You have two choices for these users, as follows:

- You can choose to not display data.
- You can choose to display data using the Publisher's Connection or one of the other available connections in the list.

Note: If you choose connections other than the Publisher's Connection to display data or allow users to choose their own connection, only those connections that have access to the worksheet defined in the portlet will be able to see it. For example, you create a worksheet portlet using worksheet MyWorkbook.sheet1 and choose the Publisher's Connection to be user SCOTT and you allow users to customize their database connection. The user SCOTT has shared the MyWorkbook workbook to user MARY but not to user FRED. When user MARY customizes the portlet to use her connection, she will see the contents of MyWorkbook.sheet1. If user FRED customizes the portlet to use his connection he will get an error stating that he does not have access to the worksheet. For more information about sharing, see *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Plus User's Guide*.

For a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet, you have two choices on how to display the data to users that are logged in (i.e. in the Users Logged In area on the Database Connections page), as follows:

- You can choose to display the same list of worksheets to all logged in users using a Discoverer connection that you select. If you select this option, all users will see the same list and will not be able to customize this list.
- You can choose to display a different list of worksheets to each logged in user by allowing them to customize their own Discoverer connection. In choosing this option, users might or might not see the list of worksheets that you select, depending on the Discoverer connection that they select.

Note: If you want users to be able to customize a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet to include their own list of worksheets, be sure to select the **Allow users to change selected worksheets** option in the List of Worksheets page.

In the **Users Not Logged In** area of the Database Connections page, you specify how data is displayed to users who have not logged into OracleAS Portal, but who still have access to a page that contains your portlet (i.e. public users). You can choose to either display no data, or display data or worksheets using a Discoverer connection that you specify.

About choosing refresh options for Discoverer portlets

When you create a Discoverer portlet, you specify how often to refresh the data in the portlet. Each time a portlet is refreshed, it requires at least one Discoverer session on

the middle tier machine. If different users are using different connections for viewing the same portlet, a different Discoverer session is required for each user.

The number of portlet instances that OracleAS Portal will refresh is restricted. The maximum number is determined by the Discoverer manager or Oracle administrator (for more information about the number of sessions in the Discoverer Portlet Provider's pool, see the *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide*). If the number of refresh jobs exceeds the number of sessions at any given time, the refresh jobs are queued until a session becomes available.

It is recommended that you select the lowest frequency possible that will still provide your users with data that meets their timeliness requirements. Values for last refresh time and next refresh time are displayed in each portlet so that users will know how recent the data is. If you allow users to analyze the data by selecting an Analyze link, a new query will be run and they will see the current data in Discoverer Viewer.

You can choose to not refresh the portlet, which is the default setting. In this case, the portlet will require a Discoverer session when it is published, when a new user accesses it for the first time, or when a user changes the set of parameter values (only applies to Worksheet or Gauges portlets based on worksheets with parameters). You will not be able to set the refresh schedule of a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet that contains a static list of worksheets.

As the publisher of a portlet, you can go to the Edit Defaults page of a portlet at any time and select the Refresh Portlet Now option to manually refresh the portlet.

About Discoverer connections and OracleAS Single Sign-On

Discoverer connections work as follows with OracleAS Single Sign-On:

- if Single Sign-On is enabled, then private connections (created in Discoverer Viewer) will be available for publishing in OracleAS Portal
- if Single Sign-On is not enabled, then only public connections (created in Oracle Application Server Control) will be available for publishing in OracleAS Portal

Note: For more information about OracleAS Single Sign-On, see the *Oracle Business Intelligence Discoverer Configuration Guide*).

Using Discoverer Portlets in OracleAS Portal

This chapter is about using Discoverer Portlets in OracleAS Portal and contains the following topic:

"About using OracleAS Portal as a personalization framework for Discoverer"

About using OracleAS Portal as a personalization framework for Discoverer

All authenticated/logged in users will be able to customize particular properties of each Discoverer portlet you create. For example, they will be able to change the portlet title and other portlet options and set formatting customizations for a Discoverer Worksheet portlet. You may also allow them to customize additional properties of the portlet such as the database connection used, parameter values, or the list of worksheets.

You can also allow users to analyze the worksheet that is used as the basis for a Discoverer Worksheet or Gauges portlet in the Single Worksheet Viewer. The Single Worksheet Viewer is a special instance of the Discoverer Viewer that is available only through a Discoverer portlet. When a user opens a worksheet from a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet they also use the Single Worksheet Viewer. The Single Worksheet Viewer will not allow users to change the worksheet they have opened and will not allow them to change the connection used. It is specifically designed to restrict the user to access to one worksheet from a Discoverer portlet.

Note that when an authenticated user launches the Single Worksheet Viewer (whether from an Analyze link in a Worksheet or Gauges portlet or opening a worksheet from a Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet) the SSO username is passed through to the query being executed to return data to Single Worksheet Viewer. In this way, if data differs by Single Sign-On user, the user will only see the data they are supposed to see.

Once in Single Worksheet Viewer, the user will have access to additional customizations and actions that are not available within the portlet customizations page. For example, in the Single Worksheet Viewer the user will be able to change layout by moving or swapping columns and change page item values to change the data displayed. In addition to extended customizations, Single Worksheet Viewer gives the user access to the following actions that are not available directly in the portlet:

- Rerun query
- Revert to original
- Print
- Export

Send as email

The following table summarizes customizations and specifies whether they are available through the portlet customization page or through the Single Worksheet Viewer.

Customization	Customize Portlet	Analyze Worksheet
Database Connection	Yes	No
Parameter Values	Yes	Yes
Change Page Item Values	No	Yes
Layout	No	Yes
Stoplight Formats	Yes	Yes
Cell Formats	Yes	Yes
Sort (Relational and tabular worksheets only)	No	Yes
Saved Selections (OLAP worksheets only)	No	Yes
Link/Unlink Graph (OLAP worksheets only)	No	Yes
Graph Type	Yes	Yes
Portlet Options - Display Options	Yes	No
Portlet Options - Analyze Options	Yes	No
Portlet Options - Rows and Columns	Yes	No
Rows and Columns	No	Yes

Table 4–1 Customizations in Discoverer Portlet Provider and Single Worksheet Viewer

Note: Rows and Columns are a separate setting in the portlet and in Single Worksheet Viewer, which do not affect each other.

You can further allow Discoverer users to save these customizations made in Single Worksheet Viewer for the Worksheet and List of Worksheets Discoverer portlets. By doing this you can create a personalization framework and effectively support hundreds of users with a handful of worksheets. You can allow each OracleAS Portal/SSO user to have their own personalized, custom view of the worksheets they are interested in without the overhead of creating and managing a database account for them or granting them privileges to create and save Discoverer workbooks to the database.

In all cases, whether modified in the customize portlet page or in the Single Worksheet Viewer, all customizations are stored on a per user, per portlet basis and are only viewable to that OracleAS Portal user. The customizations will not impact or be visible to other users.

Index

С

customizing worksheets shown in a portlet, 3-9

D

Discoverer about, 1-1 components, 1-1 Discoverer Gauges portlet adding, 3-6 Discoverer List of Worksheets portlet adding to an OracleAS Portal page, 3-4 Discoverer Portlet Provider Gauges portlet, 1-3 List of Worksheets portlet, 1-4 test URL, 2-3 testing, 2-3 types of portlet, 1-2 using, 3-4, 3-5, 3-6 Worksheet portlet, 1-3 Discoverer Viewer about, 1-1 Discoverer Worksheet portlet adding, 3-5

G

Gauge portlet, 1-2

L

List of Worksheets portlet, 1-2

Μ

metadata repository upgrading from 9.0.4 to 10.1.2, 2-8 mod_osso.conf, 2-1 OssoIPCheck, 2-1

0

Oracle Portal test URL for Discoverer Portlet Provider, 2-3 OracleAS Portal about, 1-2 Discoverer Worksheet portlet, 1-3 publishing Discoverer portlets, 3-1, 4-1 OracleAS Portal 9.0.4 using Discoverer Portlet Provider 10.1.2 with, 2-8 OssoIPCheck, 2-1

Ρ

parameters about using worksheet parameter in Discoverer portlets, 3-10 adding simple parameter form portlets to OracleAS Portal pages, 3-16 mapping to Discoverer Portlet parameters, 3-11 performance changing Discoverer default performance settings, 2-8 portlet parameters, 3-11 portlets about Gauges portlet, 1-3 about List of Worksheets portlet, 1-4 about Worksheet portlet, 1-3 customizing, 3-8 customizing worksheets shown in a portlet, 3-9 editing, 3-7 Gauges, 3-6 List of Worksheets, 3-4 Worksheet, 3-5

R

registering Discoverer Portlet Provider, 2-1

S

simple parameter form portlet adding to an OracleAS Portal page, 3-16

Т

testing Discoverer portlet provider, 2-3

W

Worksheet portlet, 1-2